1989

Velma Marchant, Elma Winterton, Leora
Robinson, Wanda Penrod, Mona Lichty, Merle
Anderson v. Park City, a municipal corporation, and
the State of Utah : Brief of Plaintiffs- Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF CASE

Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court pursuant to §§ 78-2-2(3)(a) and (5) U.C.A. (1953 as amended 1988) and Rules 42 and 48(d) R. Utah S. Ct. The case was originally transferred to the Court of Appeals pursuant to § 78-2a-3(2)(j) U.C.A. (1953 as amended 1988).

This is an appeal from a decision of the Utah Court of Appeals in a real property dispute which was originally tried in the District Court of Summit County.

II.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Was Plaintiffs' "tax title" protected from challenge by the Defendants after four years by the statute of limitations prescribed in § 78-12-5.1 (U.C.A), even if the tax deeds were ambiguous?

2. Plaintiffs and their predecessors adversely possessed the home and yard which is the subject of this action and paid all taxes assessed from 1910 to 1931. Title vested after seven years pursuant to 78-12-12.1 (U.C.A.) and cannot be attacked 70 years later.

3. Plaintiffs' "root of title" to this property is at least 70 years old and is coupled with their exclusive possession since 1910. Their ownership and title is protected from challenge by the Utah Marketable Title Act, § 57-9-1 et seq. (U.C.A., 1953).

4. If Plaintiffs did not have title to the yard on which their house was located for 70 years, did they maintain a prescriptive right to maintain their home and yard in that location?

5. Is Park City liable for the destruction of Plaintiffs' home for authorizing a third party to destroy it, and was the claim for damages timely filed?

III.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

The following statutes are determinative and are appended to this brief:

1. Section 2655, Compiled Laws of Utah (1907).
2. Section 2425, Compiled Laws of Utah (1907)

3. Section 80-5-12, Utah Code Annotated (1943)
4. Section 78-12-5.2, Utah Code Annotated (1953)
5. Section 57-9-1 et seq., Utah Code Annotated (1953)
6. Section 63-30-13, Utah Code Annotated (1953)
7. Section 78-12-5.1, Utah Code Annotated (1953)
8. Section 78-12-5.3, Utah Code Annotated (1953)
9. Section 78-12-7, Utah Code Annotated (1953)
10. Section 57-1-13, Utah Code Annotated (1953)

IV.

STATEMENT OF CASE

This is an action to quiet title to a home and yard in Park City and for the destruction of that home by Park City to build a new road. The Plaintiffs are all of the heirs of William and Charles Rolfe who were Plaintiffs' grandfather and father, respectively.

The Plaintiffs' family commenced residing in this home in approximately 1910. None of the Defendants in any way ever occupied or maintained possession of the property.

Trial was held on May 6 and 7, 1987. Judgment was entered determining that while both the Plaintiffs' and Defendants' chains of title were flawed, the State of Utah's title was superior. The trial court also dismissed Plaintiffs' claims to title by adverse possession and the Marketable Record Title Act.

Plaintiffs appealed to the Utah Supreme Court which transferred the case to the Court of Appeals. That Court ruled in its opinion dated March 13, 1989 that Plaintiffs did not hold title by adverse possession, the tax deeds and statute of limitations were

inapplicable and there was no prescriptive easement applicable to this action. The opinion did not address the application of the Marketable Record Title Act or Plaintiffs' claim of damages for the destruction of their home, other than to note those issues had been raised on appeal.

V.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an action which was brought to secure title to the Plaintiffs' family home in Park City. The house and yard were located on what is now the "new" access road to Deer Valley in the depot area. The property is located next to the yard and home which was the subject matter of this Court's decision in *Park West Village, Inc. v. Avise*, 714 P.2d 1137 (Utah, 1986).

The Plaintiffs are all of the heirs of the family that commenced residing in this home in approximately 1910 (T. p. 40). At that time William Rolfe and his wife moved into the home and two generations of the Rolfe family were raised there. The family occupied the property continuously until about 1964 (T. p. 44); visited the property on a regular basis thereafter (T. p. 65); and, were repairing the home when it was demolished between August 4th and September 7, 1981 to build an access road for Deer Valley Resort (C.A. Opinion p. 2).

The home was a two-bedroom house with a front room, kitchen, cellar, and "L-shaped" porch (T. p. 28). The yard was fenced and terraced with a retaining wall on the back and a garden on top (T. p. 26, Ex. 2). The yard contained an apple tree and was always

enclosed by a fence (T. p. 43) and, in fact, the fence existed as of the date of trial (T. p.77).

1. Possession and Use of the Home and Property

It is important to emphasize that at no time prior to the commencement of this suit have any of the Defendants or their predecessors, in any manner whatsoever, ever used or been in possession of this property. The Plaintiffs and their family, however, maintained actual occupancy or use for at least the last 70 years.

William Rolfe resided in this home from at least 1910 until his death in 1939 (T. p.40). After that his widow continued to live at the home until 1946. She died in 1949 (T. p.40). After 1949 the Plaintiffs' father, Charles Rolfe, rented the house to "the Evans girls" until approximately 1964 (T. pp. 44-65). The Plaintiffs continued to visit and go to the property at least once a year from then on (T. p.65). Charles Rolfe died in 1966 and the Plaintiffs' mother, Ethel Rolfe, died in 1981 (T. p. 69).

In addition to the foregoing acts of possession and ownership, both the Plaintiffs and Park City recognized Plaintiffs' ownership of the property. In 1978 Park City sent Ethel Rolfe a letter requesting her to fix up and repair the house in question (T. p. 42, Ex. 16). There is no explanation given or testimony as to why Park City could, at the time of trial, claim they owned the house and had since 1969 yet ask Mrs. Rolfe, as owner, to repair it in 1978. There was another request by the Park City Building Inspector which had been sent to Mrs. Rolfe but which had been lost (T. p. 53). The Plaintiffs informed

Park City that they were going to repair the house (T. p. 59, Ex. 17), and that the residence was to be rehabilitated (T. pp. 53, 54).

In the late 1970s, one of the Plaintiffs and her family commenced the actual rehabilitation of the premises (T. pp. 53-55). This included repairing the roof; obtaining engineering and legal opinions relative to the property; electrical work; contacting the Park City Building Inspector; and putting a new door on the property (T. pp. 56-59). An actual log of some of this activity was maintained by Mrs. Anderson showing continual work on their property (T. Ex. 41).

No one, up to the time the house was demolished in 1981, ever challenged or refuted Plaintiffs' ownership or right of use of this property. None of the Defendants nor any of their predecessors ever made any claim of right to possess or use the Rolfe home prior to these proceedings.

2. Payment of Taxes on the Subject Property

As was the case in *Park West Village v. Avise*, 714 P.2d 1137 (Utah, 1986), there is some confusion about the assessment of real property taxes in Summit County in the early part of this century. There appeared to be a practice of assessing real property taxes to more than one party, or assessing the improvements to one party and the underlying real property to another, but treating all assessments or liens as delinquent, real property taxes.

However, there is no dispute that this dichotomy of real property assessment did not occur in this instance until the Plaintiffs had been in actual, physical possession of this property for over 31 years.

The Court of Appeals at page 3 of their Opinion found:

“There was no evidence that anyone other than William Rolfe paid taxes on the property until 1931. From 1931 to 1953 the real property was assessed as part of Silver King Coalition Mines. From 1954 to 1969 real property taxes were assessed to and paid by United Park City Mines.”

In addition to the foregoing findings, the following facts are germane to the payment of taxes.

After 1970 the real property was not assessed because it formed a portion of numerous parcels of property which had been given by United Park City Mines to Park City Corporation. The Avise property was also one of those parcels. The Rolfes themselves paid all taxes assessed to them (T. p. 46), and since the death of Mrs. Rolfe in 1981, Merle Anderson, one of the Plaintiffs, paid the taxes (T. pp. 46, 59-70). At no time did Summit County or any other party make any demand for additional taxes or state taxes were due on the property (T. p. 86). In 1957 the Plaintiffs' father made an inquiry to ascertain if there were any delinquent taxes due on the property and the Summit County Treasurer responded in a letter (T. pp. 47, 48, Ex. 13) as follows:

“Dear Mr. Rolfe:

I checked over the records on the tax situation of your father's place in Park City and found that in 1938 a Quit-Claim Deed was issued by the County to your father for \$33.00. The receipt and everything was made out to William Rolfe, Sr. so I have no way of knowing who paid that money. From 1940 until 1952 the taxes have been taken care of

by widow's abatement by the County Commission. In the year 1955 you paid the taxes of \$8.06, in 1956 you paid the taxes in the amount of \$7.33. I hope this is the information you want, but if I can help you in any way, please, let me know more.

Sincerely,

Reid Pace
Summit County Treasurer"

(Addendum 5)

3. Documents of Title

A. Plaintiffs' Chain of Title.

In addition to the claim of uninterrupted use and possession of the property coupled with the payment of taxes (at least from 1910 until 1931), Plaintiffs assert title through a chain of documents:

1. Tax Deed (which is delineated "quit-claim deed") from Summit County to William Rolph (sic) dated June 10, 1914 for \$28.60 for "improvements east U.C. track, Park City, Utah". The Deed states that it is made from title secured from a tax sale in the year 1909 and by an auditor's deed to Summit County dated May 1, 1914 and in accordance with Section 2655, Compiled Laws of Utah, 1907 (Addendum 1).

2. Tax Deed from Summit County to William Rolfe dated June 21, 1917 for \$1.00 for "that certain framed dwelling house by lumber house in Park City, Summit County, Utah", assessed to William Rolfe in the year 1912. That Deed was also issued under authority of Section 2655, Laws of Utah 1907 as amended by Chapter

114 and 115, Laws of Utah 1911 and pursuant to an Order of the Board of County Commissioners of Summit County (Addendum 2).

3. Letter from the Summit County Treasurer to Charles Rolfe dated May 16, 1957 stating that he had found a 1938 Quit-Claim Deed issued by Summit County to William Rolfe. The letter also stated that from 1940 to 1954, taxes were taken care of by widow's abatement and that Charles Rolfe had paid taxes in 1955 and 1956 (Addendum 3).

4. Tax Deed from Summit County to Charles Rolfe dated June 13, 1963 for the "following described real estate in Summit County Utah: house and lumberyard. "This conveyance is made in consideration of payment by the Grantee of the sum of \$12.53 delinquent taxes, penalties, interest and costs, constituting a charges against said real estate for the year 1958 in the sum of \$7.81 (Addendum 4).

B. Defendants' Chain of Title.

The Defendants claim title to the property through a series of documents, but at no time claim to have had the physical use or possession of the property. Three of their documents lack a legal description of the real property to which they apply (C.A. Opinion, p. 3). The documents are as follows:

1. Patent containing this property and others to George Snyder on April 5, 1882.

2. Deed from George Snyder to Park City Smelting Company dated November 14, 1883.

3. Deed from Park City Smelting Company to Lewis Withey and Clay Holister dated September 21, 1912. This Deed did not contain a “legal description” of the property but conveyed “all of the real property or rights or interest in real property belonging to the Park City Smelting Company and situated in the County of Summit Utah.”

4. Deed from the Estate of Lewis Withey to Silver King Coalition Mine Company dated November 5, 1926. This Deed did not contained a description of the property but conveyed “all the estate, right, title, interest, property, claim and demand whatsoever of the said Lewis Withey . . .”

5. A Trustee’s Deed from Clay Holister to Silver King Coalition Mine dated February 18, 1927. This Deed had no description of the property but described it as “all other real property or rights or interest in real property . . . belonging to Park City Smelting Company, and situated in the County of Summit, State of Utah.” [There is no explanation or evidence of a conveyance of any of the subject property into a trust or the terms of said trust.]

In addition to lacking a legal description of the subject property in documents 3 through 5, they are all conveyances in the form of a quit-claim deed as defined by Section 57-1-13 U.C.A. and there are no warranties or conveyances of after-acquired title.

6. Deed from Silver King Coalition Mines Company to United Park City Mines Company dated May 8, 1953.

7. Deed from United Park City Mines Company to Park City dated April 2, 1969.

8. Deed from Park City to the State of Utah dated June 7, 1982.

The foregoing summary of the conveyances under which the State of Utah holds title are found on page 3 of the Court of Appeals Opinion (Addendum 7).

4. Demolition of Plaintiffs' Home at 112 Pacific Avenue

In August, 1981, Park City issued a demolition permit in the name of Deer Valley Resort to remove six homes located on Pacific Avenue. The structure on that permit was designated at "900 Pacific" (Ex. 38, Addendum 6). The address of the Plaintiffs' home was 112 Pacific Avenue (T. pp. 100-101). The permit also had an attachment which stated "remove buildings per photo" (T. p. 93, Ex. 39). The attached photographs included six structures, including the Avise house next door (T. p. 95, Ex. 40) which was not demolished. Counsel for Plaintiffs assumes that this was not accomplished because Mr. Avise was home at the time.

No demolition permit was ever issued for the destruction of a home at 112 Pacific Avenue (T. p. 102), yet Park City directed that Lloyd Brothers Construction demolish the house pursuant to that permit (T. p. 95). The officer of Park City who actually issued the permit contended that Deer Valley Resort owned the property since 1981 (T. p. 103), despite the earlier letters from his office to the Plaintiffs and their response stating they were rehabilitating the property (Exs. 16 and 17).

The building was demolished between August 4, 1981 (Ex. 38 and Labor Day, September 7, 1981 (T. p. 73, C.A. Opinion, p. 2) After this action was filed, Park City altered its position and now contends that it has owned the real property since April 2, 1969 (T. p. 148).

This discrepancy was never addressed at trial nor was any justification as to the demolition of Plaintiffs' home.

Merle Anderson, besides being one of the owners of this home, has personal experience in remodeling and repairing "a number of homes" because she and her husband were in the property management business at the time of trial. She testified, without objection, that the replacement costs of the structure would exceed \$20,000.00 (T. p. 63). No appraisals could have been performed on the structure since it was surreptitiously destroyed (T. p. 64), and it wasn't until about a month later, on Labor Day, 1981, that Plaintiffs became aware of the destruction (T. p. 73). The lower court took judicial notice that Labor Day, 1981 was September 7, 1981.

5. Claim for Damages

A claim for damages for the destruction of the home was sent to Park City on August 30, 1982 (Ex. 18) within one year of the time the Plaintiffs discovered the destruction. A denial of that claim was sent to the Plaintiffs by the Park City Attorney September 20, 1982 (Ex. 19). The trial court confused these dates and found the claim was submitted on September 20, 1982 (R. p. 381, F.F. # 16) (Addendum 9).

6. Miscellaneous

The trial court in its Findings of Fact (R. p. 380, FF 3, 4) found that the Plaintiffs' grandfather had worked for Silver King Coalition Mines; were permitted to construct a house on the property and that such was common practice for "this company" (R. p. 380, F.F. # 4)

There is absolutely no evidence in the records to support these findings.

The house is described in a deed in McPollin to McCaroll dated 1906 (C.A. Opinion p. 2). Mr. Rolfe's possession commenced at least by 1910 according to the testimony of his daughter (T. p. 40). This was years before Silver King Coalition ever existed as an entity (T. p. 176), and 20 years before they even received a deed under which the Defendants claim an interest (1926 Deed from Withey Estate to Silver King). Merle Anderson testified that neither her father or grandfather ever worked for Silver King (T. p. 44). The Defendants' witness, who had only worked for the later corporation, United Park City Mines from 1953, stated he knew of only one instance in Deer Valley where United Park City Mines, not Silver King Coalition, allowed someone to stay on their property (T. p. 173). He did not know if William Rolfe was ever employed by any of the companies comprising Defendants' parent chain (T. p. 176) and he stated that he did not have any knowledge that Charles Rolfe ever worked for any of these companies (T. p. 177). He further added that he had "no real personal knowledge of early history in that regard" (T. p. 174). This apparent "consent" is completely fictional and without support in the record.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Plaintiffs' title which relies on written deeds originates from "tax deeds" from Summit County, some of which are over 70 years old. At the time the deeds were executed, the Plaintiffs' predecessors were not the owners obligated to pay real estate taxes,

they were purchasers. The statute of limitations in § 78-12-5.1 U.C.A. required Defendants to assert their claim in four years. They waited 70 years and their challenge to those deeds is barred.

2. It is undisputed that between at least 1910 and 1931 the Plaintiffs' grandparents open and notoriously occupied their home and paid all taxes assessed. Title vested by adverse possession after 1917 and cannot be challenged now (§ 78-12-7 and 12, U.C.A. (1953)).

3. Plaintiffs' title is derived from a written conveyance(s) in 1914 or 1917. They had "color of title" which, coupled with their exclusive possession of the property for more than forty years, insulates their title from challenge pursuant to the Utah Marketable Title Act, § 57-9-1 et seq.

4. If Plaintiffs don't have vested title, they had a prescriptive use for their house and yard from 70 years of use and ownership.

5. Park City is liable for negligently authorizing the destruction of the Plaintiffs' house. A claim was not necessary but was timely filed. The Trial Court confused the claim with the date of Park City's rejection.

ARGUMENT

I.

The Statute Of Limitations In Section 78-12-5.1 U.C.A. Bars A Collateral Attack On A "Tax Title" After Four Years.

The Rolfe family commenced living in this home in about 1910. From 1910 to 1931, "there was no evidence that anyone other than William Rolfe paid taxes on the property" (C.A. Opinion, p. 3). The

trial court and Court of Appeals found that, while imperfect, the Defendants' predecessors [Park City Smelting, (1883-1912); Louis Withey and Clay Holister (1912-1926, '27); Silver King Coalition Mines (1927-1931+)] (C.A. Opinion, p. 3) were the "owners" obligated to pay all real property taxes assessed against the property as set forth in Section 2651 Compiled Laws of Utah 1907. At a tax sale in 1914 William Rolfe purchased the property and home. The tax deed (Addendum 1) recites that Summit County has received title to this property from a tax sale in 1909 (one year before Mr. Rolfe moved in) and an auditor's deed dated May 1, 1914 *and in accordance with Section 2655, Compiled Laws of Utah 1907*. The statutory authority for the conveyance of this property to Mr. Rolfe is located in Chapter 49 entitled "Sale of Real Estate for Taxes." Section 2655 provides

"Real Estate Deed To County To Be Sold At Auction. Whenever a county has received a tax deed for any real estate sold for delinquent taxes, the Board of County Commissioners shall . . . offer for sale at the front door of the County Courthouse, at the time specified in the notice, all such real property not heretofore sold or redeemed *provided*, that in cases where the description of such real estate is so defective as to convey no title, such real estate shall not be offered."

See also Section 2425, Compiled Laws of Utah, 1907 and § 80-5-12 U.C.A. (1943).

The statutory basis under which William Rolfe purchased this home provides and allows only for the sale of real property to pay delinquent taxes. There is no provision nor authority to sell personal

property and it is submitted that the description of the property as “improvement East U.C. track, Park City” was utilized to identify the property in the same manner as a street address might be utilized and was not intended to change the conveyance from one of real property after a tax sale to one of personal property.

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