1989

VELMA MARCHANT, ELMA WINTERTON,
LEORA ROBINSON, WANDA PENROD,
MONA LICHTY, MERLE ANDERSON v. PARK
CITY, a Municipal Corporation, and THE STATE
OF UTAH : Brief of Defendants/Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

At the outset it should be noted that Plaintiffs never pled §78-12-5.1 Utah Code Ann. (TR. 12-15), and never asserted it until arguing it at the conclusion of the trial. (TR. Vol. 2, p. 31.) Generally, failure to plead a statute of limitations pursuant to Rule 8, URCP, waives the statute, Staker v. Huntington Cleveland Irr. Co., 664 P.2d 1188 (Utah 1983). In circumstances where no responsive pleading is allowed, a slightly more liberal standard requiring the party asserting the statute must "do all he [can] to assert the statute" was adopted in Hansen v. Morris, 3 Utah 2d, 310 283 P.2d 884, 887 (1955). Under either standard, Plaintiffs failed to properly assert §78-12-5.1, Utah Code Ann. (1987) and have waived any reliance on §78-12-5.1, Utah Code Ann. (1987).

Even if Plaintiffs had properly raised the statute of limitation found in §78-12-5.1, it is inapplicable. Depending upon which deed fits Plaintiffs' purposes, Plaintiffs contend

that a 1914 Quit Claim Deed issued to William Rolfe after a tax sale, a 1917 Quit Claim Deed issued to William Rolfe after a tax sale, or a 1963 Tax Deed issued to Charles Rolfe evidences their "tax title" which is protected by §78-12-5.1, Utah Code Ann. (1987).

In addition to the fatal defects in each of these deeds which will be discussed below, there is an inherent flaw in an argument which contends that three separate "tax" deeds, all from Summit County, are all viable.

The Plaintiffs' claim that the muniments of their title are found in a 1906 Quit Claim Deed from Belle McPollum. (Ex. 4). This deed predates the three "tax" deeds from Summit County. If Plaintiff's predecessors had title under the 1906 deed from McPollum, obviously these predecessors had a duty to pay the property taxes. The issuance of tax deeds or Quit Claim deeds after a tax sale by Summit County in 1914, 1917 and 1963 evidence one of the following: (1) an attempt by these predecessors to misuse the property taxation and enforcement system to boot-strap themselves into a better title by failing to pay their taxes; or, (2) each successive tax deed created a new and distinct chain of title and the plaintiffs must claim title solely through the 1963 tax deed (Ex. 7), the last tax deed issued by Summit County. The 1917 deed, (Ex. 6), on its face states that the taxes had been previously assessed in 1912 to William Rolfe, the Grantee, who obviously owed taxes prior to 1914 and failed to pay them. The testimony of retired County Treasurer Reed Pace, who executed the

1963 deed, (Ex. 7), was that Charles Rolfe, the Grantee, was the person who owed the taxes on the "house in lumberyard" for which the 1963 tax deed, (Ex. 7), was issued. Mr. Rolfe purposely failed and refused to pay the taxes in order to obtain a tax deed to the house in the lumber yard. (TR. 183-184.) The purpose of such a strategy is obviously to strengthen a weak claim of title.

In Dillman v. Foster, 656 P.2d 974, 979 (Utah 1982), this Court held that: "One who is under an obligation to pay taxes on land cannot be allowed to strengthen his title to such land by buying in the tax title when the property is sold as a consequence of his omission to pay taxes." This Court in Dillman specifically held that one who purchases at a tax sale whose duty it was to pay those taxes gains nothing except the release of the lien for nonpayment of taxes. The Plaintiffs are urging this Court to overrule Dillman and rule that their claimed predecessors who failed to pay their taxes be rewarded with something more than the release of the county's lien. This Court has already rejected this spurious argument.

This Court in Dillman also refused to apply the special statute of limitations found in §78-12-5.1¹ to situations identical to the instant one. This Court observed that the policy behind this statute to give stability to tax titles should not be extended to one who has a duty to pay taxes and is simply

¹ The Utah Supreme Court also refused to apply the special statute of limitations for tax titles in a situation where one tenant in common had obtained a tax deed in Massey v. Prothero, 664 P.2d 1176 (Utah 1982).

attempting to misuse the tax enforcement and collection system. The rule in Dillman prevents exactly the type of activity engaged in by Plaintiffs' claimed predecessors, of attempting to clothe themselves with a title, and a limitation on the attack of the title, by willfully failing to pay property taxes.

Alternatively, if the "tax title" deeds from Summit County are more than void attempts at bootstrapping a title by those having a duty to pay taxes, prohibited by Dillman, then the 1963 tax deed, (Ex. 7), created a new title. In Tuft v. Federal Leasing, 657 P.2d 1300 (Utah 1982) this Court affirmed the rule in Utah that a tax deed creates a new and paramount title and which totally destroys the prior title to the property. See also Dillman.

Assuming that the 1963 tax deed, (Ex. 7), created a "tax title," an examination of this "tax title" and whether it is entitled to protection from §78-12-5.1 Utah Code Ann. (1987) is in order.

First, if such a "tax title" were protected from question by §78-12-5.1, Utah Code Ann. (1987) the state and its predecessors would be denied their due process of law. In 1983, the United States Supreme Court in Mennonite Board of Missions v. Adams, 462 U.S. 791 (1983), ruled that a tax foreclosure and sale was void for denial of due process of law if all lienholders did not receive actual prior notice of the foreclosure proceeding. In applying the Mennonite holding to an identical situation involving a statute of limitations, the Third Circuit held in

Benoit v. Pathaky, 780 F.2d 336 (3rd Cir. 1985), that failure to give constitutionally sufficient notice was a jurisdictional defect which rendered inapplicable the special tax title statute of limitations.

In the instant matter, what notice or what tax foreclosure proceedings, if any, were held and given at the turn of the century, is unknown. However, it was clearly established at the trial that State's predecessor and grantor, United Park City Mines Company, had no notice of any tax sale in 1963 which would affect its title (if it were to convey the underlying property) to the subject property since it paid property taxes without fail, on the subject property every single year from 1954 to 1969.

Second, even if the deeds through which Plaintiffs claim are shielded by virtue of Utah Code Ann. (1987), §78-12-5.1, the unassailable title is, at best, to improvements only since that is all Summit County had obtained and all that the deeds describe and convey. According to Harman v. Polter, 592 P.2d 653 (Utah 1979), the description in a deed is prima facie evidence of the intent of the grantor in what is conveyed by the deed. All evidence at trial supported the prima facie presumption that Summit County only intended to convey improvements through the three deeds issued by it and not any real property, which Summit County had no title to anyway.

POINT III

PLAINTIFFS FAILED TO PROVE ADVERSE POSSESSION

Plaintiffs have misconstrued the case of Parkwest Village, Inc. v. Avise, 714 P.2d 1137 (Utah 1986) in asserting that the Trial and Appellate Court erred in dismissing their claim to the subject property by Adverse Possession under Utah Code Annotated §78-12-10, et seq. As will be discussed below, Avise is factually distinguishable and inapplicable.

In order to obtain the subject property by Adverse Possession, the Plaintiffs must prove that they have complied precisely with all of the requirements for adverse possession found in Utah Code Annotated, §78-12-10, et seq., (1987). The Court in Home Owners' Loan Corporation v. Dudley, 141 P.2d 160, 166 (Utah 1943), held that the party claiming adverse possession "has the burden of pleading and proving full compliance with the statute." This holding was reaffirmed in Neeley v. Kelsch, 600 P.2d 979 (Utah 1979), and most recently by this Court in United Park City Mines Co. v. Estate of Clegg, 727 P.2d 173 (Utah, 1987), where this Court held: "One who seeks to acquire title to real property other than by conveyance must comply precisely with the statutory requirements for doing so." (Emphasis added.)

The statutory elements of Adverse Possession are:

1. Possess land in the statutorily prescribed manner, for the statutory period of seven years;
2. Hold the land adversely to title holder;

3. Pay all taxes legally assessed against the land for the seven year period.

It is undisputed that a failure to comply precisely with the requirements of a single element of adverse possession causes the claim of adverse possession to fail completely.

A. Plaintiffs Cannot Show Payment of All Taxes Legally Assessed Against the Land for any Seven-Year Period.

Utah Code Annotated, §78-12-12, 1953 as amended, requires that "the party, his predecessors and grantors have paid all taxes which have been levied and assessed upon such land according to law." (Emphasis added.)

The Utah Supreme Court has consistently held that the requirement of payment of all taxes is a mandatory requirement, which if not proven by the party claiming adverse possession, will completely defeat his claim. The Court explained this requirement in its ruling in Home Owners' Loan Corporation v. Dudley, 141 P.2d 160, 166 (Utah 1943), stating: "An adverse claimant has the duty of pleading and proving full compliance with the statute, including payment of all taxes lawfully assessed. . . ." ²

Prior to 1931, no evidence of payment of taxes on the subject property by anyone was available. Deputy Summit County Assessor Steven Martin was simply unable to locate records of

² See also Neeley v. Kelsch, 600 P.2d 979 (Utah 1979).

payment of taxes on the subject property prior to 1931. The two ancient quit claim deeds issued by Summit County (Ex. 5, 6), which Plaintiffs cite as proof of tax payment, only recite that consideration paid was \$28.68 and \$1.00, respectively. No evidence was offered that such consideration had any relationship whatsoever to any taxes assessed. There was no evidence as to what years of taxes the consideration represented. The deeds are entitled Quit Claim deeds, probably issued after a tax sale found no buyers. Plaintiffs' bald assertion claim that Mr. Rolfe paid all taxes between 1910 and 1931 is simply not supported by the record. During the pre-1931 period, there is no record of any tax payment by anyone. If Plaintiffs are attempting to rely on the consideration recited in the Quit Claim deeds, their reliance is misplaced. In Bowen v. Olsen, 2 Utah 2d 12, 168 P.2d 983 (1954), this Court ruled that redeeming property at a tax sale or purchasing property at a tax sale does not constitute the payment of taxes necessary to comply with the statutory requirement for adverse possession. Thus any redemption or purchase from Summit County by Plaintiffs' predecessors could not possibly satisfy the requirement that taxes be paid for a minimum of seven years by the party claiming adverse possession.³

From 1931 to 1969, the State's predecessors and not the Plaintiffs' predecessors paid all real property taxes on the

³ See also Aggelos v. Zella Mining Co., 107 P.2d 170 (Utah 1940), where the Supreme Court also held that redemption at a tax sale did not constitute payment of taxes required under adverse possession.

subject property. A letter from then County Treasurer Reed Pace, dated May 16, 1957, (Ex.13), reveals that Plaintiff's predecessor did not pay any taxes whatsoever for the period of 1940-1955 and Plaintiffs themselves admitted to no knowledge of payment of any taxes prior to 1966 and only claimed payment in 1982 and one other year before 1982 and after 1966.

Thus, at trial Plaintiffs simply failed to meet their burden by failing to show payment of all taxes assessed for any seven year period, and thereby failed to meet the requirements of Utah Code Annotated, §78-12-12, 1953, as amended. In Neeley v. Kelsch, 600 F.2d 979, 982 (Utah 1979), this Court held:

This Court has held an adverse claimant has the burden of proving full statutory compliance, including the payment of all taxes assessed. Kelsch testified that he did not know whether or not he had paid taxes on the disputed property, and he did not present any evidence of the payment of taxes. Since Kelsch did not carry his burden of proof, the Trial Court erred in holding adverse possession as an alternative basis for Quieting Title in Kelsch.

Similarly, Plaintiffs failed to carry their burden of proof and the trial Court and Utah Court of Appeals correctly so ruled on this factual issue.

Plaintiffs' heavy reliance on the opinion in Parkwest Village v. Avise, 714 P.2d 1137 (Utah 1986) is misplaced. In Avise, this Court recognized the Summit County practice of separately assessing and taxing improvements and real property. While the adverse possessor was able to show payment of taxes by

his predecessors for a period in excess of 23 years on the improvements, there was no evidence that taxes were even levied and assessed on the underlying real property prior to 1975. This Court ruled that until 1975 the adverse possessor's predecessors paid all taxes that were levied and assessed, since no other taxes were levied and assessed. Similarly, the successful adverse possessor in Royal Street Land Co. v. Reed, 739 P.2d 1104 (Utah 1987), paid all taxes assessed and levied on the surface estate or improvements for a seventeen-year period.

Conversely in the instant matter, the County records show assessment and levying of taxes on the underlying property from 1931 until the property became tax exempt in 1970. These taxes were paid every one of those years by the predecessors of the State. In order for Plaintiffs to be aided by the decision in Avisé, they must demonstrate payment of all taxes that were levied and assessed on the subject property for a seven-year period. There is no holding or suggestion in Avisé that the Adverse Possessor is relieved from his absolute statutory duty to prove payment of all taxes assessed for seven consecutive years.⁴

Clearly the failure by the Plaintiffs to identify and prove payment of all taxes levied and assessed for any seven year period precludes them from obtaining the subject property by adverse possession. Even if Plaintiff could prove payment of

⁴ Plaintiffs' citation of Affleck v. Morgan, 12 Utah 2d. 200, 364 P.2d 663 (1961), and Houghton v. Barton, 49 Utah 611, 165 P. 471 (1917) is not helpful to this Court since those cases are factually distinguishable.

taxes for the required seven year period on improvements, such payment period must coincide with a period when no other taxes were levied and assessed.

The purpose behind the statutory requirement of payment of all taxes by the party claiming adverse possession is to put the true owner on notice that his land is being adversely claimed. This purpose is stated in Bowen v. Olson, 2 Utah 2d 12, 268 P.2d 983 (1954). The true owner does not obtain notice during the years the party claiming adverse possession does not pay the taxes with a hidden motive of purchase at a future tax sale. Additionally, there is no identifiable location of the improvements on which Plaintiffs claimed to have paid taxes. The absence of any description sufficient to locate the improvements assessed is insufficient to put the State or its predecessors on notice of any adverse claim as required by Bowen.

B. Plaintiffs Did Not Possess the Subject Property.

The requirements for establishing of "possession" depend on whether the adverse claimant is claiming under color of title or not. Color of title is not necessary, but it makes the element of possession easier to meet for the adverse claimant. Claiming under color of title also affects the amount of land which can be secured by possessory activities.

Plaintiffs, through their complaint, have not claimed Adverse Possession under color of title, but only claimed under

the non-color of title section. (See Paragraph 8 of Plaintiff's Amended Complaint.)

Plaintiffs, as adverse claimants without color of title, may establish possession only through the possessory activities found in Utah Code Annotated, §78-12-11 (1987). (This Section has been in effect and remains substantially unchanged since 1872.) The adverse claimant without color of title can thus only acquire the land actually enclosed, cultivated, improved, or irrigated. The statutory language allows claiming "the land so actually occupied and no other, is deemed to have been held adversely." Utah Code Annotated, §78-12-10, 1953 as amended. The adverse claimant without color of title does not have the benefit of the statutory section applicable to those who claim with color of title. Utah Code Ann., §78-12-9(4), 1953 as amended.

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